
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Housing Services Cabinet 
Committee

Members of the Housing Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on Monday, 7 June 
2021 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be 
transacted.

The Government legislation in response to COVID-19 to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members has now expired. Therefore, this meeting will be conducted in person and with socially 
distanced Elected Members and officers in attendance. 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 6)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. Q4 2020-21 Corporate Performance Report (Pages 7 - 16)

5. Draft Tenant and Leaseholder Decant Policy (Pages 17 - 32)

6. Draft Electrical Safety Policy (Pages 33 - 46)

7. Demonstration of some functionality within the new Housing Management 
System 

PRESENTATION 



8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency 

9. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items  
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part A of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None.

 

Members

Cllr Jenny Wallace (Chair)
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Baljit Hayre
Leslie Hills
Leslie Hoskins
Lyn Milner
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Housing Services Cabinet Committee

Tuesday, 23 March 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Jenny Wallace (Chair)
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Baljit Hayre
Leslie Hills
Leslie Hoskins
Lyn Milner
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Aaron Elliott
Gary Harding

Daniel Killian Assistant Director (Housing)
Jody Bulman Service Manager (Household Landlord Services)
Victoria May Service Manager (Housing Options)
David Herrington Digital Services Manager
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (minutes)

33. Chair's Announcements 

The Chair noted that anniversary of the announcement of the first lockdown in relation to the 
Covid-19 pandemic on 23 March 2020 and expressed her condolences to all those effected.

The Chair also welcomed Victoria May – Service Manager (Housing Options), who replaced 
Lee Georgiou, to the Borough Council. 

34. Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Diane Morley and Cllr Frank Wardle. Cllr 
Gary Harding and Cllr Aaron Elliott attended as their substitutes.

35. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on Thursday, 4 February 2021 were 
signed by the Chair.

36. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 23.03.2021

2

37. Social Housing White Paper - Briefing Paper 

The Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) presented an overview of the 
Government’s Social Housing White Paper – A Charter for Social Housing Residents and 
gave a presentation on the implications this would have for social landlords and more 
specifically, for the Borough Council. Members noted that the report was for information only 
and highlighted future changes that would need to be incorporated into the Housing Service 
to ensure that the Council was able to meet the obligations in the new Charter.

The presentation made by the Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) which reflected 
the content of the report and could be accessed via the link set out below:

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=443&MId=4457&Ver=4

The Committee was informed that the changes made within the Housing Service over the 
last 4 years had placed the Council in a good starting position to build on the achievements 
to date and to take forward and implement the new obligations contained in the White Paper 
without significantly increasing workloads or resources.

The following points were raised during discussion on this item:

 The Assistant Director (Housing) confirmed that the White Paper was solely about 
social housing and had come about as a result of the Grenfell tragedy. Whilst the 
Council did have private sector enforcement powers, the White Paper did not include 
this sector which was covered under other legislation.

 Following a question on communication of information to people with disabilities and 
those whose first language was not English, the Committee was advised that officers 
were working to ensure that key documents and all communications were made 
accessible to all potential interested parties, including the use of videos with sign 
language. To this end Housing Services was also working towards ensuring that all 
documents and communications were produced in an appropriate format for this use. 
The Assistant Director (Housing) noted that engagement with residents was key in 
this process.

 Whilst it was noted that it was good to have the Decent Homes Standard back on the 
agenda, concern was expressed on the lack of timeframe for promised Government 
reviews. The Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) confirmed that the 
Government had not published any set dates. However, it was noted that the 
Government’s Building Safety report was due in 2023 and the Leasehold Reform 
White Paper was due within 12 months. A watching brief would be kept on 
information promised by the Government that had been delayed by the pandemic 
and the Committee would be updated as and when appropriate.

 Following a question, it was confirmed that the Housing Health and Safety 
Compliance Officer was Gary Hewitt who was managed by Bal Chattha the Council’s 
Compliance and Projects Manager.

The Chair congratulated the officer on a thorough and informative report and presentation. 

Resolved that the report be noted.

Page 4

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=443&MId=4457&Ver=4


Housing Services Cabinet Committee 23.03.2021

3

38. Implementation of the Revised Housing Allocation Scheme - Verbal 
Update 

Further to the last meeting of the Committee, the Assistant Director (Housing) gave an 
update of the implementation of the Revised Housing Allocation Scheme. An extended 
consultation had taken place throughout 2020 and the revised Housing Allocation Scheme 
had been approved under delegated authority by the Lead Member on 17 February 202, with 
officers implementing the changes from 22 February 2021.

Since this time, the following had taken place:

 The IT back office system used to manage Housing Register applications had been 
reconfigured to reflect the changes. 

 A Member Briefing Note and a list of Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) had been 
created and circulated.

 The Council’s website had been updated to reflect the Briefing Notes and FAQs.
 All existing applications for social housing, approximately 1,900, had been 

considered against the new criteria and all applicants affected by the change will be 
contacted via Kent Home Choice.

 A Housing Allocations Panel had been introduced with appropriate Terms of 
Reference, which would consider appeals from applicants who had been removed 
from the Housing Register. Meetings of the Housing Allocations Panel had been 
scheduled to take place every Thursday afternoon

 A virtual drop-in session designed to assist Councillors in understanding the changes 
with an opportunity to ask questions had been held last week.

 The officer highlighted that the Local Connections criteria had changed from 2 to 3 
years but that this change was not being applied retrospectively. 

 It was confirmed that the new scheme would go live on 5 April 2021.

The following comments were made during discussion on this item:

 The Chair noted that there was likely to be far more questions once the Scheme went 
live.

 Members were advised that there was a provision to enable officers to override the 
Local Connection requirement with regards to existing applicants and the Assistant 
Director (Housing) gave an example.

 The Committee was advised that decisions made by the Housing Allocations Panel 
would not be published and Members would not be informed unless the decision fell 
within their casework and that this was the usual practice.

The Chair advised that this was the first time the Housing Allocations Scheme had been 
revised since 2014 and, in future, it would be reviewed on an annual basis.

39. Housing Services - Covid Update Report 

The Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) presented a report which provided an 
update against how the Council had responded to the COVID pandemic, both in terms of 
specific activities in response to the pandemic and how service delivery had been 
maintained across Council services and more specifically in Housing Services.

Page 5



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 23.03.2021

4

The officers went through the report in detail and the following points were raised during 
discussion on this item

It was noted that 20,000 repairs had been undertaken which equated to 4 repairs per 
household and a question was raised on the differentiation of responsibility for repairs 
between the Council and the householder. The Committee was reminded that the Council 
had a very robust Repairs and Maintenance Policy which clearly listed the landlord and the 
tenant responsibilities and it was noted that repairs to damage caused by the tenant were be 
recharged. Since the introduction of these policies, the Council had only undertaken work 
that the Council was responsible for.

The Council had recently purchased a property with a view to convert it to a House in 
Multiple Occupation (HMO). The Assistant Director (Housing) confirmed that investigation 
work had been completed and the next stage would be to installed en-suite bathrooms for all 
the bedrooms. It was forecast to be ready to open in the summer of 2021.

The Chair thanked the officer and Housing Services for a very positive report after what had 
been a very hard year and officers were commended for all their hard work. This sentiment 
was echoed by a number of Councillors.

Resolved that the report be noted.

40. Housing IT System - Verbal Update 

The Assistant Director (Housing) gave an update on progress with regard to the Housing IT 
System as follows:

 The system had been configured and was being robustly tested as it needed to be fit 
for purpose. 

 Officers were working with the supplier towards a go live date in the summer.
 The system was made up on a number of modules and work was currently being 

focussed on the housing module and the module that facilities agile working for 
Housing Officers. 

 As a consequence these modules would now be going live at the same time.
 Remote training and testing would take place over the coming months ready for go 

live in the summer.
 It was hoped that a demonstration of the functionality of the system could be 

presented to the next meeting of the Cabinet Committee.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.36 pm

Page 6



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Services Committee

Date: 7 June 2021

Reporting officer: Daniel Killian - Director (Housing)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Four 2020-21 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Housing Services Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Four 2020-21 (January to March 2021).

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. 
The plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 7 Agenda Item 4



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Housing Services 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter Four 2020-21, covering the period January to March 
2021. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

2.4 This report is for information purposes only.

3. Background paper

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 8



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initiatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 9

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 10



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

H O U S I N G  S E R V I C E S
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  4  :  2  0  2  0  -  2  1

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 11



P I  15 Gross number of affordable homes delivered

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

64 135

During Quarter 4 we saw a total of 84 affordable homes completing across several sites, which 

included 8 x 3 bed Council owned houses at Nansen Road.

The largest number of completions this quarter took place at Cable Wharf where Town and Country 

took handover of 17 homes for Affordable Rent and 25 Shared Ownership homes.

A further 18 homes for Affordable Rent and 15 for Shared Ownership were completed at Watermans 

Park by Orbit and Sage. Moat also produced 9 Shared Ownership houses.

A breakdown of affordable homes delivered during Q4 in terms of type and size is detailed below:-

Affordable Rent

12 x 1 bed flat

8 x 2 bed flat 

4 x 2 bed house 

11 x 3 bed house

Shared Ownership

17 x 1 bed flat

3 x 2 bed flat

11 x 2 bed house

12 x 3 bed house

6 x 4 bed house

A total of 135 new affordable homes were delivered by Gravesham and its Registered Provider 

partners during 2020-2021.  

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building: increase the supply of high quality

market and affordable housing.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

O U T T U R N

Annual indicator Annual indicator

0

50

100

150

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

P
age 12



P I  16 Total number of empty private sector homes brought back into occupation

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

6 1 2 1 6 11 3 5

P I  17 Total number of private sector homes brought up to standard 

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

5 2 2 12 2 2 1 4

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Enforce a high quality of private housing: work with landlords to tackle property standards, 

empty homes and homes in multiple occupation.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

Despite challenging and restricted conditions, Quarter 4 has seen the Empty Property Team return a 

further 4 properties to use. This includes 3 properties at a site in Darnley Road. This was an 

overgrown and neglected piece of land with an unsecured boundary fence. Officers laised with the 

owner to ensure the site was secured and vegetation kept to a low level so that the land did not 

become a nuisance to neighbouring properties or attract anti-social behaviour such as fly tipping. The 

site was subsequently sold to a developer who built out the land.

The fourth property, 55 Haig Gardens, has been well known to the team for a number of years. Our 

initial involvement was when the property was subject to the Council’s first Empty Dwelling 

Management Order in 2013. The property was then let for several years following the success of the 

Management Order. More recently, it became unoccupied for a second time after the tenant vacated 

and the owner’s health deteriorated, leaving him unable to deal with the property. The Empty Property 

team then worked alongside the appointed power of attorney to once again bring the property back 

into use.

PI17 – There has been a rise in the number of homes bought back to standard and officers are dealing 

with a number of complex cases.  It is hoped to that the service will be provided with additional 

resources so that we can continue the upward trend.

#1 PEOPLE 

0

4

8

12

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0

5

10

15

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

P
age 13



P I  18 Average time taken to re-let council housing (days)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

29 23 21 22 53 30 22 26

O U T T U R N

#1 PEOPLE 

The implementation of the new housing system continues to progress well. All of the Housing Services 

Team have now had training regarding the new system, of which the training and testing of the system 

will continue until the ‘go-live’ date in a few weeks’ time. The team continue to overcome the difficulties 

of having to train virtually due to covid, and as a result the programme delivery time remains on target 

for go live in June.

The Housing Income Team continue to focus on supporting tenants to maintain rent payments during 

such challenging times for our tenants. As a result, rent arrears continue to reduce and remain 

significantly lower than other housing providers in the South East. This is reflective of the excellent 

working relationship with organisations such as Universal Credit and the tenant centred approached 

that the team have to rent collection and arrears. As a result, the arrears at year end were an 

incredibly low figure of 2.54%. This is such a fantastic achievement that the team were nominated for 

the Kent Housing Group Extraordinary Awards 2021.

The Sheltered Housing Team continue to provide an excellent service to our older tenants, ensuring 

that the welfare of our tenants remains at the forefront of the services we provide, especially during 

these unprecedented times. The team continue to ensure that communal areas remain covid secure 

and are currently preparing to support the tenants to get back to utilising their communal lounges once 

safe to do so.

The Housing Officers have increased their presence on our housing estates over the last quarter, 

carrying out regular estate inspections. Many of these inspections have been carried out jointly with 

other departments within the Council to help address some of the more serious issues on our estates 

such as anti social behaviour and flytipping. The number of cases such as anti social behaviour and 

noise nuisance issues have continued to be high as a result of covid, which the team have worked 

hard to address. 

The Tenant Engagement Officers have led on the successful delivery of the Winter Support  Fund, 

which provided dedicated funding of over £25,000 to help those most in need as a result of the covid 

pandemic over the winter months. The team used this funding to support 166 adults and 109 children, 

ensuring those most in need had access to food vouchers and support. The Officers worked closely 

with other departments to ensure that referrals were received by a variety of sources, ensuring that the 

most vulnerable received much needed help and support. 

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

3. Provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service: high quality tenant 

management experienced through a service making full use of its assets. 

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

0

20

40

60

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

P
age 14



P I  19 % of Disabled Facility Grant applications processed on time

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

P I   20 Total number of households in temporary accommodation

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

103 80 74 74 96 99 102 125

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

Temporary accommodation has risen over the last quarter however this figure does include those that 

the service have managed to get into accommodation who are rough sleeping. The Service has 

submitted an ambitious 2021/22 bid to government to ensure we offer a holistic service to rough 

sleepers and we hope to introduce North Kent Mind as a formal partner who will focus their efforts on 

mental wellness and trauma informed care.   The Service continues to looks at funding 

announcements to ensure we maximise opportunities for the future.

Specifically, in relation to the performance indicators: 

PI19 - There has been some delay in works due to Covid-19 however good progress has been made 

with new referrals being received.  KCC Adult Social Care have now progressed the backlog of initial 

referral visits and continue to carry out assessments on a virtual platform.  

PI20 - There has been over 1,650 households presenting to the local authority in 2020/21 requiring 

housing advice as they are homeless or in threat of being homeless and whilst the government has 

implemented measures to protect households throughout the pandemic, the service has seen a rise in 

relationship breakdowns and domestic violence.  Some households in Gravesham have seen 

additional challenges with furlough and financial hardship so as the 'no eviction' ban lifts it is likely we 

will see an increase in demand for housing options services.   

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

4. Safeguard residents: put in place a package of housing measures and creative interventions that 

support the most vulnerable.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

50

75

100

125

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

P
age 15



P I  21 % of emergency jobs completed on time

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

P I   22 % of council properties with valid gas safety certification

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

100% 100% 100% 100% 99.6% 99.5% 99.8% 100%

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

5. Deliver a skilled in-house building management team: progressively improve the standard and 

efficiency of local housing.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

Performance within DSO Building Management has remained consistently high across both 

responsive Repairs and Voids during quarter 4.  Emergency jobs completed within target has 

remained at 100% and 93% of non-emergency repairs were completed within target across quarter 4.  

Customer satisfaction across Responsive Repairs is also monitored and the outturn for quarter 4 was 

98%.

The length of time it takes for DSO Building Management to bring an empty property up to a let-able 

standard is also monitored and has continued to perform well in quarter 4 with minor voids being 

completed within 9 days and major voids within 21 days.

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

P
age 16



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Services Cabinet Committee

Date: 7 June 2021

Reporting officer: Jody Bulman, Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services)

Subject: Draft Tenant and Leaseholder Decant Policy

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Housing Cabinet Committee of the proposed Tenant and Leaseholder Decant 
Policy and to seek comments prior to the policy being agreed by the Cabinet Member, 
Housing Services.

Recommendations:
1. For Members of the Housing Services Committee to discuss and provide feedback on 

the draft Tenant and Leaseholder Decant Policy for the Cabinet Member, Housing 
Sevrices, to consider prior to authorising the policy.

1. Introduction

1.1 The Corporate Plan 2019-23 sets out the objective of ‘delivery of new homes that 
allow residents and their families to stay and grow in the borough. Specifically 
relating to council homes, to achieve this objective, it means that on occasions 
there will be a need to demolish or refurbish existing council properties to ensure 
that we can achieve our objectives and deliver innovative, good quality, and 
energy-efficient homes. When these occasions arise, we look to decant existing 
tenants from their current homes to new ones.

1.2 As a Council, we acknowledge and recognise that decanting tenants or 
leaseholders from their homes on either a temporary or permanent basis can be 
distressing and unsettling, and therefore we want to ensure that the process is as 
stress-free as possible. 

1.3 In addition to doing the very best for our tenants and leaseholders, there are legal 
requirements that we must meet as part of our decant processes, such as 
statutory notices that must be served and home loss payments set at specific 
levels by legislation. Therefore to ensure that we are both legally compliant and 
delivering the best possible service to our tenants we need to have a policy in 
place to support staff, tenants, and leaseholders with the process.

Page 17 Agenda Item 5



2

2. Policy

2.1 A copy of the Decant Policy can be found in Appendix 2. The decant policy covers 
both temporary and permanent decants setting out what we hope to achieve from 
a decant, how we will manage the process, how we will engage with those 
affected by a decant, what support we will provide and what home loss payments 
individuals can expect to receive. The policy takes into account relevant legislation 
and guidance to ensure that home loss payments are set at the correct levels and 
that any decants are followed in a lawful process.

2.2 The decant policy covers decants for both tenants and leaseholders as the 
legislation for both are different in relation to home loss payments and failure to 
leave the property. The policy also highlights any potential Right to Buy (RTB) 
implications and ensures that tenants are given an opportunity to exercise their 
preferences concerning RTB.

2.3 The decant policy sets out what support we will provide to tenants and 
leaseholders in both a practical and financial capacity. This will support staff to be 
able to clearly explain what the Council’s role and responsibilities are in relation to 
decants, with a focus on making the process as stress-free as possible. In 
addition to the statutory home loss payments we will:

2.3.1 Provide assistance with registering on the Council’s Housing Register.

2.3.2 Provide assistance to view alternative accommodation.

2.3.3 Provide assistance with completing forms relating to change of address. 

2.3.4 Provide assistance with rearranging care or support if applicable. 

2.3.5 Where no friends or family are available, arranging packing and removals. 

2.3.6 Clearance of unwanted items. 

2.3.7 Arranging lifting and refitting of carpets and curtains.

2.3.8 Help and / or advice in closing down utility accounts and opening new 
accounts.

2.3.9 Help and / or advice on notifying change of address.

2.3.10 Provide a package of support both before and after the move tailored to 
individual needs.

2.3.11 Provide advice on what entitlement there is to disturbance and home loss 
payments (where appropriate).

2.4 A key element set out in the policy is the commitment that we will engage with 
tenants and leaseholders at the earliest opportunity and will continue to engage 
throughout the whole decant process, ensuring that we provide a 
‘tenant/leaseholder liaison officer’ as a single point of contact so that tenants and 
leaseholders know exactly who they need to contact if they have any queries or 
concerns. In addition, we will inform tenants/leaseholders of how to appeal any 
Council decision they feel is unjust or to make a complaint about the level of 
service they receive.

Page 18



3

2.5 This policy has been reviewed and agreed by Director (Housing), New Homes 
Strategy and Development Manager, Development Consultant, Service Delivery 
Manager (Repairs) and Legal, therefore we are now seeking comments and the 
support of the Housing Cabinet Committee before the policy is implemented. 

3. Budget

3.1 There are no budget implications. The decant payment levels are set out in 
legislation and the Development Team budget for decant costs within their overall 
development budget.

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 None

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 19



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
Failure to implement a clear policy following legislation could result in the inconsistent management of 
decants and unlawful processing which could result in legal challenge if the incorrect process was followed.

Legal Failure to follow legislation could result in incorrect Home Loss Payments or legal 
challenge if the incorrect legal procedure is followed.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

N/A

Risk Assessment Failure to have a Decant Policy in place, could result in the Council not complying 
with legislation, which would increase the risk of a legal challenge should the 
incorrect process and/or payments be applied to any future decants required.   

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 PEOPLE: Quality Living - Delivery of new homes that allow residents and their 
families to stay and grow in the borough. Homes of differing types, tenures and size 
will have been provided that enhance the character of the borough's rural and 
urban areas.
#1 PEOPLE: Quality Living - provide a proactive, supportive and financially effiicent 
housing servic. High quality tenant management, experienced through a service 
making full use of its assets.

Climate Change N/A

Crime and Disorder N/A

Page 20

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Gravesham Borough Council – 

Tenant & Leaseholder Decant 
Policy

Document Control

Responsible Department Housing
Author Jody Bulman, Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services)
Consultation

Revision History

Date Previous Description of Revision
Version
N/A N/A

Page 23



2

Index

Table of Contents

Section Page No
1 Introduction 2
2 Purpose Statement 2
3 Policy Aims 2
4 Scope of Policy 2
5 Legislation and Guidance 3
6 Policy Statement 3
7 Engaging with Tenants and Leaseholders 5
8 Allocating property to decanting tenants 5
9 Alternative housing for leaseholders 6
10 Support to move 6
11 Compensation payments 6
12 Refusal to move 8
13 Right to Buy Implications 8
14 Suspension of the Right to Buy 8
15 Complaints/Appeals Procedure 9
16 Discretion 9
17 Equality and Diversity 9

 

Page 24



3

1. Introduction 
In line with the Corporate Plan 2019-2023, Gravesham Borough Council strives to 
make the best use of its stock and deliver new homes that allow residents and their 
families’ to stay and grow in the borough. To deliver this objective, it can mean that on 
occasions decanting (moving residents from their home) is necessary to allow for 
major refurbishment and/or demolitions, to allow work to be carried out in a property 
where it would be unsafe for a tenant to remain in the property whilst the work was 
carried out or in cases of emergency.

Reference in this policy to ‘The Council’ means Gravesham Borough Council.

2. Purpose statement
A decant is where a tenant or leaseholder moves from their current home to another 
one, either temporarily or permanently.

The property that the tenant or leaseholder moves to may be Council owned, a 
Registered Provider (RP) property or privately owned. The tenant or leaseholder may 
also decide to arrange their own accommodation on a temporary basis with friends or 
family.

The purpose of the Decant Policy is to outline the process the Council will follow when 
a tenant or leaseholder is required to move out of their property, either temporarily or 
permanently. It may also involve anything from moving an individual household to 
managing a programme of decants across a large number of properties over a long 
period of time.  

3. Policy Aims
The Policy sets out the provisions the Council has in place for decanting tenants and 
leaseholders from their current properties.

The aims of this policy for those decanting both temporarily and permanently are: 
 To ensure the decant process is fair and reasonable and in accordance with 

the current allocations scheme.
 To carry out the decant with the minimal possible disturbance for tenants and 

leaseholders.
 To consult with tenants and leaseholders at the earliest opportunity and to 

continue to engage throughout the decant process.
 To provide an assessed offer of support both financial and practical for tenants 

and leaseholders.
 To enable to the Council to make best use of its stock through timely 

improvements, remodelling, redevelopment and disposal. 

4.  Scope of Policy 
In line with the legislation and existing best practice, the following people will be 
eligible for assistance and possible rehousing: 

 Tenants living in the affected property 12 months prior to the date of 
agreement for the regeneration or development scheme.

 Tenant’s family members, partners and spouses living in the affected property 
12 months prior to the date of agreement for the regeneration or development 
scheme, (including children). 

 Tenants, tenant’s family members, partners and spouses living in the affected 
property in need of rehousing irrespective of the length of tenancy where work 

Page 25



4

needs to be carried out in the property and it would be unsafe for the tenant to 
remain or in the event of an emergency.

 Leaseholders

This policy does not apply to and the Council will not rehouse unauthorised 
occupants, private tenants; sub-tenants; lodgers; non-resident landlords, and 
licensees.

5. Legislation and Guidance

5.1 Related Policies

 GBC Corporate Plan 2019-23
 GBC Corporate Debt Policy
 GBC Compensation for tenants’ improvements Policy.
 GBC Housing Allocations Policy.
 GBC Corporate Refund Procedure.
 GBC Housing Under-Occupation Policy
 GBC Comprehensive Equality Policy 
 GBC Rechargeable Repairs & Maintenance Policy

5.2 Legal Framework 

 Land Compensation Act 1973
 The Home Loss Payments (Prescribed Amounts) (England) Regulations 

2020
 Housing Act 1985
 Housing Act 1996
 Acquisition of Land Act 1981
 Planning and Compensation Act 1991

This policy was correct at the date of issue and has been drafted according to current 
legislation.  Any subsequent changes in legislation or best practice will be adhered to 
and included in future updates.  

6. Policy Statement
Moving home is a stressful time for anyone and we understand that the process of 
decanting can be stressful for households that are required to move and we will do as 
much as possible to ensure that the process is the least stressful as possible.

       6.1 The Decant Programme
The decant programme will be used to both move tenants and leaseholders on a 
temporary or permanent basis as follows:

    6.1.1An Emergency Decant
Tenants are advised to take out their own home contents insurance. In the event 
that there is a fire, flood or storm damage, the tenant would be expected to check 
their own insurance policy to see if this would support a temporary move to Bed 
and Breakfast accommodation. If the tenant does not have their own insurance or 
if it is not covered within the policy, they may be rehoused in temporary 
accommodation by the Council, as is deemed to be appropriate. Once the extent 
of the damage has been assessed, a decant plan can be devised taking account 

Page 26



5

all relevant circumstances and this will set out all appropriate arrangements. 
Where damage has been caused by the actions or inactions of the tenant resulting 
in decanting, the tenant(s) will be recharged for any costs associated with the 
refurbishment in line with the recharge policy.

       6.1.2 A one-move decant: 
A tenant is moved to alternative permanent accommodation on the same or   
equivalent tenancy terms as their current property. 

Adult children within the household, who are eligible household members, may be 
offered the option to move into a separate property or properties that meets their 
housing need.  

Tenants who opt for a permanent move will be considered as a high priority and the 
Council will seek to meet expressed preferences for area and type of property 
taking into account that the requests are reasonable and suit their needs.

Where a property is owned by the resident and it is due to be demolished, the 
Council will pay the owners the market value of their home plus a home loss 
payment. Homeowners will be expected to secure their own alternative 
accommodation rather than being rehoused by the Council.

       6.1.3 A temporary decant: 
A tenant is moved to a suitable but short-term property until a permanent property 
is available. The tenant will have a ‘Right to Return’ to the newly developed 
regeneration area. The Council will take into account the tenant’s needs and 
reasonable requirements regarding the location of the temporary home. 

Where it is reasonable, tenants who accept an offer of a transfer on a temporary 
basis may be allowed to change their mind and remain permanently in the new 
dwelling and receive the home loss payment.

      6.1.4 Phased development and decanting
It is possible that development will happen in phases with some blocks or houses 
being demolished or redeveloped before others. 

The construction phasing of the scheme may mean that tenants are unable to 
move directly into a new home on the estate as new units will not be ready until 
later in the redevelopment process.  In these circumstances tenants will have the 
opportunity to move to another home either temporarily or permanently. 

On schemes where demolition and construction happen in separate phases, we 
expect that some tenants in the latter phases will have access to new homes from 
earlier phases and will not require temporary rehousing.

      6.1.5 Decanting Leaseholders
Leaseholders will be given the same high priority as a tenant. 

If a leaseholder’s home is due to be redeveloped or demolished, the Council will 
pay the owners the market value of their home plus a home loss payment.

Where the property is to be refurbished the leaseholder will be able to return to the 
property.

Page 27



6

7. Engaging with tenants and leaseholders
The Council recognise that communication is key to successful management of a 
decant process and as much notification as possible will be given to tenants and 
leaseholders. 

The Council will ensure that we:
 Consult tenants and leaseholders at an early stage.
 Keep tenants and leaseholders informed.
 Provide a ‘tenant/leaseholder liaison’ as a single point of contact.
 Help and / or advice in closing down utility accounts and commencing new 

accounts.
 Help and / or advice on notifying change of address.
 Provide a package of support both before and after the move tailored to individual 

needs.
 Advise what entitlement there is to disturbance and home loss payments (where 

appropriate).
 Inform tenants/leaseholders of how to appeal a Council decision or complaint 

about the level of service they receive.

Communications will be accessible and may include letters, resident meetings, 
provision of Frequently Asked Questions Leaflet, Home Visits and Drop In sessions.

8. Allocating property to decanting tenants
Every effort will be made to re-house a tenant in the area of their choice. The criteria 
upon what basis alternative accommodation is deemed suitable will be determined in 
accordance with the Council’s Housing Allocations Scheme and will be based on the 
assessed bedroom need of the household and not the size of accommodation 
currently occupied. Medical needs will also be assessed in accordance with the 
Council's current Allocations Scheme. Tenants required to move will be given a high 
priority on the Council’s Housing Register or will have the benefit of a direct let. 

Unless the property is to be sold, demolished, or substantially changed, the tenant 
should be offered the opportunity to return to the dwelling retaining the tenancy whilst 
works take place and be paid removal expenses. 

Where accommodation is to be redeveloped or refurbished, tenants will be given 
priority to return to suitable alternative accommodation on the redeveloped scheme 
should sufficient new accommodation of the type required be available.

Where tenants wish to move to another part of the Borough, the Council will use its 
reasonable endeavours to assist in finding suitable alternative accommodation in their 
preferred location. This will be subject to the supply of suitable accommodation in the 
area of their choice.

In appropriate cases, under-occupying tenants may be persuaded to relinquish their 
right to return by the offer of compensation under Gravesham Borough Council’s 
Housing Under-Occupation Policy that applies to tenants moving to smaller 
properties, as well as by the offer of the home loss payment.

Should a tenant be interested in types of tenancy other than for social rent then 
advice and assistance will be offered to help the tenant secure such a move.

9. Alternative housing for Leaseholders

Page 28



7

As with tenants, leaseholders will be considered a high priority for a permanent move. 
Where a property is owned by the resident and it is due to be redeveloped or 
demolished, the Council will pay the owners the market value of their home plus a 
home loss payment. Homeowners receive a home loss payment of 10% of the market 
value of their home, between the minimum and the maximum rate as set by the 
Government. These amounts are set out by law in the Land Compensation Act 1973 
and Home Loss Payments (prescribed payments) Regulations 2020).

When a leaseholder’s property is to be redeveloped, and they are not able to afford to 
buy a suitable alternative home on the open market, the Council will offer advice and 
assistance to secure shared ownership, equity share or another form of intermediate 
housing. Where the property is to be refurbished the leaseholder will be able to return 
to the property.

10. Support to move
The Council is committed to supporting tenants and leaseholders to move home if 
their property will be demolished or subject to a major refurbishment as part of a 
regeneration scheme. The Council will provide support to help tenants and 
leaseholders to move through the rehousing process, with as little disruption as 
possible.

Support can be provided to those tenants and leaseholders who need it in the form of:
 Assistance with registering on the Council’s Housing Registers.
 Assistance to view alternative accommodation.
 Assistance with completing forms relating to change of address. 
 Assistance with rearranging care or support if applicable. 
 Where no friends or family are available, arranging packing and removals. 
 Clearance of unwanted items. 
 Arranging lifting and refitting of carpets and curtains.

The level of support required will be assessed on an individual basis.

11. Compensation Payments
There are two types of compensation payment that a tenant or leaseholder may be 
entitled to when being decanted from their property.

    11.1 Home Loss Payment
A Home Loss Payment is designed to compensate people for the distress and 
inconvenience of having to move home at a time not of their choosing.  Home loss 
payments are set at a flat rate by legislation. In England, the amount is currently 
£6,500. For leaseholders who are entitled to 10% of the property value, a 
minimum payment of £6,500 and a maximum payment of £65,000 will be given.

 A Home Loss Payment will not be paid to any household whose tenancy 
began less than 12 months before the date of the decision to decant.

 Tenants moving on a permanent basis may also be entitled to compensation 
for improvements that they have made to the original property in accordance 
with GBC’s Compensation for Tenants Improvements Policy.

 Home Loss Payment is only payable where a displacement is compulsory and 
of a permanent nature.

Page 29



8

 Where a person entitled to a payment dies before making a claim, any person 
(not a minor) who lived in the dwelling as an only or main residence for at least 
12 months before the date of displacement can make the claim in the 
deceased person’s place.

 Claims must be made in writing within five years of displacement.

 Payment must be made within three months of the date of the claim, on the 
date of displacement, or on the date the market value has been agreed or 
finally determined, whichever is the later.

 Any money owed to the Council, including but not limited to, rent arrears, 
council tax and any recharges will be deducted from the Home Loss Payment 
in accordance with the Council's Corporate Refund Procedure.

 Any rent arrears or other money owed to the Council will be deducted from 
any home loss payment made.  Deductions will not be made from disturbance 
payments, other than with the agreement of the resident, which will be sought 
first.

        11.2 Disturbance Payment
Disturbance payments cover reasonable expenses involved in moving. These will 
be paid, regardless of length of tenancy, to tenants and leaseholders who are 
decanted. The Council will pay for two moves where a resident takes up an option 
to return to the original dwelling.

Expenses payments are intended to financially compensate the displaced tenant 
and leaseholder for the actual expenses associated with the need to move. The 
tenant and leaseholder should be in no better or worse position after displacement 
than before, but will only be reimbursed for actual losses and should ensure that 
those are mitigated as far as possible. Tenants and leaseholders should obtain 
three competitive quotes – for example, from removal contractors. The Council will 
not reimburse expenses where value for money cannot be demonstrated.

Each claim will be individually assessed and payment will normally be made to 
address the cost of:

 Removal contractors’ expenses
 Temporary storage of possessions and furniture
 Disconnection and reconnection for TV aerials, internet access, telephone, 

cooker, plumbed in washing machine and other installations to be 
agreed prior to removal.

 The cost of moving or replacing any adaptations related to disability.
 The cost of alterations to existing soft furnishings (e.g. carpet and curtains) 

or the loss incurred in not being able to re-use them.
 Re-direction of mail.
 Arranging the removal of items that are no longer wanted
 Any additional insurance premiums related to the move 

Tenants who are evicted on grounds of rent arrears, nuisance or any other breach 
of the conditions of tenancy after the decision to decant has been taken, will not be 
paid home loss or disturbance payments.

Page 30



9

12. Refusal to move
The Council will aim to negotiate alternative accommodation with tenants and 
leaseholders who are required to move. Any refusal by a tenant or leaseholder must 
be reasonable and supported by evidence.

Where tenants refuse the offers of suitable alternative accommodation and in 
circumstances where rehousing by negotiation and voluntary agreement has not been 
possible, the Council will exercise its legal right to seek possession. To be successful 
the Council will need to be able to demonstrate that suitable alternative 
accommodation is available for the tenant to move to. 

If agreement cannot be reached with a leaseholder the Council is able to pursue a 
compulsory purchase of the property in line with policy.

13. Right to Buy Implications
Eligibility for Right to Buy should not be affected by either a temporary or permanent 
decant. Tenants with decant priority will be consulted as to concerns about the 
potential to acquire the new dwelling under the Right to Buy. Tenants will be invited at 
the time of registration to decide among the following options:

 Where they currently occupy a property which benefits from the Right to Buy, 
will the decanted property also benefit from the Right to Buy;

 Where they currently occupy a property which benefits from the Right to Buy 
they may decide to be considered for other properties regardless of whether 
they benefit from the Right to Buy or not;

 Where they currently occupy a property that does not benefit from the Right to 
Buy they may request consideration for a property that is guaranteed.

14. Suspension of the Right to Buy
The Right to Buy of any affected council housing stock will be suspended from the 
date an Initial Demolition Notice is served on the tenants concerned as defined in the 
Housing Act 1985 Section 138 A-C and Schedule 5.

An Initial Demolition Notice also suspends any Right to Buy applications that have 
been submitted by qualifying tenants whilst proposals for regeneration are being 
considered or progressed to the point where a Final Demolition Notice is served.

If you have already applied for the Right to Buy your home, your application will be 
suspended whilst regeneration plans progress. If, at any point, the plans change and 
your home is not to be demolished, a Revocation Notice will be served. At this point, 
you could still complete your purchase.

You can still make a Right to Buy application when an Initial Demolition Notice is in 
effect on your home, but the sale process will be suspended until a Final Demolition 
Notice has been served. 

If you have established a valid claim to exercise the Right to Buy before an Initial 
Demolition Notice is served, you have 3 months in which to claim compensation for 
reasonable expenditure connected with the conveyancing process.

15. Complaints/Appeals Procedure 

Page 31



10

Any appeals decisions made under this policy and complaints will be considered in 
accordance with the Council's Corporate Complaints Procedure.

16. Discretion
The Director of Housing, may exercise their discretion to depart from this policy due to 
the exceptional individual circumstances of the case.

17. Equality and Diversity
This Policy works in conjunction with the Council’s Equality Policy. 

Gravesham Borough Council is committed to treating people with dignity and respect. 
This applies to colleagues, tenants and members, all of whom undertake not to 
discriminate directly or indirectly or victimise because of race, colour, ethnic or national 
origin, nationality, citizenship, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, disability, age, 
religion or political persuasion. 
All information/ literature will be made available in other formats, or translated upon 
request. 

The Council is committed to addressing issues of financial inclusiveness by 
referencing its Vulnerability Policies.

Front line staff will signpost customers to external advice agencies providing 
additional help and support with regard to equalities, ensuring full use of available 
resources.

Appointments arranged to discuss issues covered by this policy will be made 
reflecting awareness of cultural and religious holidays and celebrations. Alternative 
dates/times for attendance will be offered should the suggested date/time conflict with 
a cultural or religious celebration. 

This policy has satisfied an Equalities Impact Assessment, which has been carried out 
in line with the Equalities Act 2010.

Page 32



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Cabinet Committee

Date: 7 June 2021

Reporting officer: Nicole Arthur, Service Delivery Manager (Housing Repairs) 

Subject: Draft Electrical Safety Policy

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Housing Cabinet Committee of the proposed Electrical Safety Policy and to seek 
comments prior to the policy being agreed by the Cabinet Member, Housing Services.

Recommendations:
1. For Members of the Housing Services Committee to discuss and provide feedback on 

the draft Electrical Safety Policy for the Cabinet Member, Housing Sevrices, to 
consider prior to authorising the policy.

1. Introduction

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council has a statutory duty to ensure: 

1.1.1 As a landlord, that our housing stock provides a safe living environment for 
our residents, free from health hazards within legislative guidelines.

1.1.2 As an employer, that it provides a safe working environment ensuring their 
premises do not endanger those that work within them.
 

1.1.3 As a client, ensures that our contractors and sub–contractors operate 
within legislative guidelines ensuring health and safety is at the forefront 
and given the highest degree of importance as part of their business and 
operations.

1.2 In fulfilling these health and safety obligations, Gravesham Borough Council is 
committed to mitigating the risks posed by the use of electrical systems within the 
buildings it owns and controls.  The risks include:

 Electrical shock

 Electrical burn

 Fires of electrical origin

Page 33 Agenda Item 6



2

 Electric arcing

 Explosion initiated or caused by electricity

 Electrical fire

1.3 There is an increasing public awareness of issues affecting health and safety 
within social housing, the last notably being the Grenfell tragedy. With the 
increasing awareness there is a correlation in the increased concerns being 
expressed as to how the risks are being managed, both within the business and 
by members of the public. The council needs to ensure there are clear specific 
guidelines, processes and procedures in place which serve to re-assure residents 
and provide guidance and advice to our workforce.

1.4 The charter for social housing residents: social housing white paper, sets out what 
every social housing resident should be able to expect from their landlord, which 
includes ensuring that their home is safe and secure.  The government will be 
consulting on measures to ensure that social housing residents are protected from 
harm caused by poor electrical safety.

1.5 In June 2020 it became law for private landlords to test and inspect electrical 
installations within their properties every 5 years.  As a social landlord the 
intervals between inspections are not absolutely set within any regulations, 
however, best practice guidance from the Electrical Safety Council and from 
BS7671:2018 states that electrical installations should be tested at intervals of no 
longer than 5 years from the previous inspection.  In order to lead by example as 
a landlord, and put the safety of tenants first, the Asset Management team 
introduced a successful planned work programme a number of years ago to 
undertake a test and inspection 5 year rolling programme on the housing stock.

1.6 The responsibility for delivering this planned work programme transferred to the 
Service Delivery Manager (Housing Repairs) from 1 April 2021 as part of the 
Phase 2 expansion of the workforce.

2. Proposed Policy

2.1 The Electrical Safety Policy details how Gravesham Borough Council meet the 
requirements for electrical safety under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985, the 
Housing Act 2004 and the Electricity at Work Regulations 1989. In addition to this, 
the policy provides assurance that measures are in place to ensure compliance 
with these regulations and to identify, manage and/or mitigate risks associated 
with electrical installations.

2.2 The Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 places duties on landlords to ensure that 
electrical installations in rented properties are:

 Safe when a tenancy begins

 Maintained in a safe condition throughout the tenancy

2.3 The policy is relevant to all employees, tenants, contractors and other persons 
who may work on, occupy, visit, or use its premises, or who may be affected by its 
activities or services. It should be used by all to ensure they understand the 
obligations placed upon the council to maintain a safe environment for tenants 

Page 34



3

and employees within the home of each tenant and within all nondomestic 
(communal) areas of buildings.

2.4 Monitoring of electrical compliancy against the policy will be reported to the 
Compliancy Team quarterly to be included within the Compliancy Data 
Dashboard.

3. Background Papers

3.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 35



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
Failure to implement the policy could mean that we fail to fulfill our responsbility as a Landlord, particularly in 
relation to health and safety issues that may put both the tenant and the structure of our property at risk    
 

Legal As a landlord, Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) has a legal responsibility to 
ensure the health and safety of their employees, contractors, tenants and others, by 
keeping the property safe and free from health hazards      

Finance and Value 
for Money 

N/A. 

Risk Assessment Any breach of health and safety regulations is a criminal offence and as such, any 
company or individual manager found to be in breach of these health and safety 
regulations could face prosecution by the Health and Safety Executive (HSE).     
 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan # 1 People 
Provide a Proactive, Supportive & Financially Efficient Housing Service: high quality 
tenant management experienced through a service making full use of its assets. 
Put Our Customers First: Implement a suite of quality and effective front line service

Climate Change N/A

Crime and Disorder N/A

Page 36

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

Digital and website 
implications

The website will be updated to ensure there is clear information regarding Electrical 
Safety.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council
Gravesham Housing- 
DSO Building Management

Electrical Safety Policy 

June 2021

Document Control

Responsible Department DSO Building Management

Author Service Delivery Manager (Housing Repairs) 

Consultation Housing Management, Responsive Repairs, Asset 
Management

Revision History

Date Previous 
Version

Description of Revision

01.03.21 N/A Creation

Page 39



Index

1. Introduction
2. Obligations
3. Regulatory & Legislative Compliance
4. Electrical Safety Management Principles
5. Approach to Compliance Remedial Work
6. Record Keeping
7. Competent Person
8. Training
9. Audit Procedure
10. Non- Compliance
11. Approved Testing Equipment
12. Tenant Responsibilities
13. No Access
14. Information Sharing

Page 40



1. Introduction

Gravesham Borough Council as a landlord treats the health and safety of tenants, staff, 
contractors and other users of its housing stock of the upmost of importance.

In fulfilling these health and safety obligations, Gravesham Borough Council is committed to 
mitigating the risks posed by the use of electrical systems within the buildings it owns and 
controls. The risks include: 

 Electrical shock
 Electrical burn 
 Fires of electrical origin 
 Electric arcing 
 Explosion initiated or caused by electricity
 Electrical fire

The Electrical Safety Policy details how Gravesham Borough Council meets the 
requirements for electrical safety under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985, the Housing Act 
2004 and the Electricity at Work Regulations 1989.   In addition to this the policy provides 
assurance that measures are in place to ensure compliance with these regulations and to 
identify, manage and/or mitigate risks associated with electrical installations. 

This policy is relevant to all employees, tenants, contractors and other persons who may 
work on, occupy, visit, or use its premises, or who may be affected by its activities or 
services. It should be used by all to ensure they understand the obligations placed upon the 
council to maintain a safe environment for tenants and employees within the home of each 
tenant and within all nondomestic (communal) areas of buildings. 

Gravesham Borough Council will follow a systematic approach to the management of 
electrical work to ensure it meets the requirements set out in BS 7671 2008 Requirements 
for Electrical Installations, IET Wiring Regulations 18th edition including all amendments and 
other relevant legislation relating to electrical safety. This is to ensure the safety of tenants, 
employees and members of the public.

2. Obligations

Gravesham Borough Council acknowledges and accepts its responsibilities with regard to 
electrical safety under the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985, the Housing Act 2004 and the 
Electricity at Work Regulations 1989.

The Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 places duties on landlords to ensure that electrical 
installations in rented properties are: 

 Safe when a tenancy begins 
 Maintained in a safe condition throughout the tenancy 

Page 41



In order to be compliant under these duties electrical installations are required to be 
periodically inspected and tested. The intervals between inspections are not absolutely set 
within any regulations, however, best practice guidance from the Electrical Safety Council 
and from BS7671: 2008 states that electrical installations should be tested at intervals of no 
longer than 5 years from the previous inspection. 

The key objectives of the policy are to establish: 

 Regulatory and legislative compliance 
 Electrical safety management principles 
 Approach to compliance remedial work 
 Record keeping 
 Competent persons 
 Training 
 Audit procedure 
 Non-compliance 
 Electrical Safety Information

3. Regulatory & Legislative Compliance 

Regulatory Standards

The application of this policy will ensure compliance with the regulatory framework and 
consumer standards (Home Standard) for social housing in England, which was introduced 
by the Homes & Communities Agency (HCA) in April 2012.

Legislation 

The principle legislation applicable to this policy is:

 Landlord and Tenant Act 1985  
 Electricity at Work Regulations 1989 

Code of Practice 

 ET Wiring Regulations British Standard 7671: 2008 (as amended 2015) 
 ‘Landlords’ Guide to Electrical Safety 2009

Additional Legislation

This policy also operates in the context of the following additional legislation: 

 Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 
 The Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 
 The Workplace (Health Safety & Welfare) Regulations 1992 
 Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 
 The Building Regulations for England and Wales (Part P) 
 The Housing Act 2004 
 The Occupiers’ Liability Act 1984 
 Health and Safety (Safety Signs and Signals) Regulations 1996 

Page 42



 Construction, Design and Management Regulations 2015 
 RIDDOR
 The Defective Premises Act 1972
 Homes, Fitness for Human Habitation Act 2018, including HHSRS

4. Electrical Safety Management Principles

Detailed below are the key policy principles relating to electrical safety: 

Gravesham Borough Council will hold accurate records against each property it owns or 
manages identifying when the electrical installation was last inspected and tested.

Gravesham Borough Council will ensure that all domestic properties owned or managed 
have a valid Electrical Installation Condition Report (EICR) that is no older than 5 years from 
the date of the previous EICR.  Gravesham Borough Council will deliver a comprehensive 
programme of testing and inspection of all domestic properties on a rolling 5-year cycle. 

Gravesham Borough Council will ensure that all electrical installations shall be in a 
satisfactory condition following completion of an electrical installation inspection and test. 

Gravesham Borough Council will ensure that electrical installation inspection and tests are 
carried out prior to the commencement of any new tenancies (void properties), mutual 
exchanges and transfers and that a satisfactory EICR is issued to the tenant prior to them 
moving in. 

Gravesham Borough Council will ensure that only suitably competent NICEIC electrical 
engineers and contractors undertake electrical works. 

Gravesham Borough Council will carry out electrical installation inspection and tests and 
issue new satisfactory EICRs when completing planned component replacement works 
within domestic properties. In the case of a rewire the council will receive an installation 
certificate and following minor works, a minor works certificate. 

Gravesham Borough Council will test and replace as necessary smoke alarms, heat 
detectors and carbon monoxide detectors which are not covered as part of the annual gas 
safety check visit (i.e. the property does not have gas), as part of the 5-yearly electrical 
inspection and testing visit. 

Gravesham Borough Council will ensure that robust processes and controls are in place to 
manage the completion of follow up works identified during inspection and testing of 
electrical installations and electrical portable appliances. 

Gravesham Borough Council will ensure that robust processes and controls are in place to 
ensure that all electrical works are properly notified and approved under Part P of the 
Building Regulations for England and Wales where this is required. 

Gravesham Borough Council will ensure that robust processes and controls are in place to 
manage works to void and occupied properties that may affect existing electrical 
installations. 

Page 43



5. Approach to compliance remedial work 

Gravesham Borough Council will as a minimum make safe and/or where possible endeavour 
to repair all code 1 and code 2 defects identified by a periodic electrical installation 
inspection and test before leaving site after completing the inspection and testing works. Any 
further remedial works to code 1 and 2 defects will be completed within 10 working days 
(except where a rewire is required) and an EICR will be issued stating that the installation is 
in a satisfactory condition. 

Gravesham Borough Council will establish and implement programmes of electrical 
installation upgrading works to improve electrical installations, that have been identified as 
not meeting current standards but are in a satisfactory condition for the purposes of an 
EICR, up to a standard that meets all current requirements of BS7671. Gravesham Borough 
Council will ensure there is a robust process in place to investigate and manage all RIDDOR 
notices issued with regard to electrical safety.

6. Record Keeping

Gravesham Borough Council will establish and maintain a core asset register of all 
properties that have an active electrical supply and electrical installations within its Asset 
Management System. This register will identify electrical installations within all domestic 
properties and electrical installations within non-domestic (communal) areas.

Gravesham Borough Council will establish and maintain accurate records of all completed 
Electrical Installation Condition Reports (EICRs), Minor Electrical Works Certificates (MEW) 
and Building Regulation Part P notifications associated with remedial works from these 
reports and Electrical Installation Certificates and keep these for a period of not less than 10 
years. 

7. Competent Person

Only competent persons, as defined by BS 7671:2015 (Requirements for Electrical 
Installations) including current amendments, are authorised to carry out inspection and 
testing on the councils premises.

A person shall be deemed competent to carry out the appropriate inspection and testing only 
if they have sufficient knowledge and experience of the test equipment, the installation being 
tested and testing procedures.

It is the responsibility of those undertaking inspection and testing to:

 Ensure no danger occurs to any person or animals
 Ensure no damage occurs to property
 Compare the inspection and testing results with the design criteria
 Take a view on the condition of the installation and advise on remedial works
 In the event of a dangerous situation, to isolate and make an immediate 

recommendation to the Electrical Qualified Supervisor.

8. Training

Page 44



Gravesham Borough Council will ensure that all operatives working for, or on behalf of, the 
council have the relevant training required for their role.  This will be managed via periodic 
assessments of their training needs and resulting programmes of internal and external 
training.

All operational front-line staff will undertake electrical awareness training on an annual basis.

9. Audit Procedure

100% of desktop audits will be carried out by the Electrical Qualified Supervisor on the 
documentation produced by the electricians.  Work in progress/ post inspections will also be 
carried out on 50% of the work.

10. Non-Compliance 

The definition of non-compliance in relation to this policy refers to any incident which results 
in a potential breach of legislation or regulatory standard, or which causes or has the 
potential to cause a significant risk to health and safety.

Any non-compliance issues identified at an operational level will be formally reported to the 
Service Delivery Manager (Housing Repairs) in the first instance in order to address the non-
compliance issue and agree an appropriate course of corrective action.

If cases of a serious non-compliance issue, this will be reported to the Director (Housing) 
and the council’s Monitoring Officer who will consider whether it is necessary to disclose the 
non-compliance issue to the Regulator of Social Housing in the spirit of co-regulation, or any 
other organisation such as the HSE, as part of the Regulatory Framework.

11. Approved Testing Equipment

Test equipment shall be appropriately recalibrated and comply with the requirements of ‘BS 
7671: 2015 Requirements for Electrical Installations and Guidance Note 3 (Inspection and 
Testing)’ including all amendments.

12. Tenant Responsibilities

Council tenants have a responsibility to use electrical devices/ appliances and the electrical 
systems supplied to properties responsibly to protect the health and safety of themselves 
and others. 

The council does encourage tenants to maintain good electrical safety around the home by 
regularly checking the visual condition of devices and appliances for signs of wear and tear 
that could potentially be dangerous e.g. scorching, loose wires or cable grips (more detailed 
information is available via the Health and Safety Executive website www.hse.gov.uk ). 

Where tenants discover a problem with council owned or supplied electrical systems or 
equipment they should inform the council by contacting the Housing Operations Team 
immediately on 01474 33 77 77 . Any faults with the electrical supply will be treated as an 
emergency job and will respond within 24 hours (within two hours if there is a threat to health 
and safety) and within 28 working days for non-emergency jobs. 

Page 45



As part of the fixed installation inspection and testing, it is necessary to de-energise the 
electrical supply to the property. All tenanted properties where electrical inspection and 
testing is to be carried out, shall be notified in writing of a proposed appointment to complete 
the electrical inspection and test. This written notification shall also inform the tenant of the 
requirement to temporarily disconnect the power supply and the tenant shall ensure:

 Appropriate access for the technician and provide access to all electrical sockets and 
switches

 Ensure perishable food stuffs kept in fridges and freezers are protected during the 
test, to maintain food safety 

As part of the tenancy agreement, tenants must not alter the electrical installations within a 
property unless they have permission in writing from the Housing Management Team. Any 
electrical work carried out by the tenant or their contractor, must be certified by a competent 
electrician with a copy being provided to the Housing Team. This will then be entered onto 
the Asset Management/ Repairs system for future reference.

13. No Access

Gravesham Borough Council will adopt a ‘fair but firm’ approach to gaining access to 
domestic properties where periodical electrical testing is required (following Electrical Safety 
Council Guidelines for once every 5 years for tenanted properties) in order to be compliant 
with this policy and safeguard the wellbeing of the tenant.

This will include:

 Writing to tenants in advance of the required access date and providing an initial 
appointment (which can be altered on request) 

 Partnership working with external agencies and advocacy groups where tenants are 
known to be vulnerable for any reason 

 Where possible combining appointments with other safety checks e.g. annual 
landlords gas safety checks, where applicable.

 Compliance Remedial Work

Where access is denied the council may consider the use of legal powers within the tenancy 
agreement to force access, if there appears to be a significant risk to the occupants or the 
property by not carrying out the electrical check. Each case will be assessed on its merits 
and any final decision to instigate legal action to gain access will be made by the Service 
Delivery Manager (Housing Repairs).

14. Information sharing

The Council will provide information to all relevant people regarding electrical safety 
with safety leaflets, tenant handbooks, tenant liaison and training. This will include 
but is not limited to:

o Staff
o Contractors
o Managers
o Residents
o Members of the public (where a need to know exists)

Page 46


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Q4 2020-21 Corporate Performance Report
	2. Housing Services - Q4 Performance Report (Appendix 2)

	5 Draft Tenant and Leaseholder Decant Policy
	Draft Tenant  Leaseholder Decant Policy

	6 Draft Electrical Safety Policy
	Draft Electrical Safety Policy June 2021




